# USDOT Guidance Summary for Connected Vehicle Deployments

## **Performance Measurement**

www.its.dot.gov/index.htm Final Report — July 2016 Publication Number: FHWA-JPO-16-341





Produced by Noblis, Inc. U.S. Department of Transportation Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office

### Notice

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The United States Government assumes no liability for its contents or use thereof. The U.S. Government is not endorsing any manufacturers, products, or services cited herein and any trade name that may appear in the work has been included only because it is essential to the contents of the work.

Cover photo courtesy of ITS JPO Module 13 ePrimer Presentation (Connected Vehicles)

#### **Technical Report Documentation Page**

		reconical Report Documentation Page	
1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.	
FHWA-JPO-16-341			
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date	
4. The and Subtrue USDOT Guidance Summary for Connected Vehicle Deployments: Performance N			
		6. Performing Organization Code	
7. Author(s)		8. Performing Organization Report No.	
Meenakshy Vasudevan (Noblis);			
Sampson Asare (Noblis)			
9. Performing Organization Name And Add	ress	10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS)	
Noblis 600 Maryland Ave., SW, Suite 755,			
Washington, DC 20024		11. Contract or Grant No.	
······································		DTFH61-11-D-00018	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address	5	13. Type of Report and Period Covered	
ITS-Joint Program Office 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E.,		Final Report	
Washington, DC 20590		14. Sponsoring Agency Code	
		HOIT-1	
15. Supplementary Notes			
Work performed for:			
Kate Hartman (ITS JPO, CV Pilots Program M	anager)		
16. Abstract			
The document provides guidance	e to Pilot Deployers in the	e timely and successful completion of the Connected Vehicle	
Pilot Concept Development Pha	se deliverables, specifica	lly in the area of performance measurement. Guidance is	
		d Evaluation Support Plan in Task 5, identifying performance	
		ps) in Task 2 and corresponding requirements in the System	
		and other activities related to conducting performance	
measurement at Connected Vel			
		erms used in the BAA and summary of key challenges that	
		cluding methods that can be used to overcome them. The	
		efit from the performance measurement guidance in this	
	e technical support, inclue	ding USDOT scheduled webinars and workshops, that is	
available to the Sites.			
This document does not replace	e or alter the work stateme	ent defined in the Broad Agency Announcement (BAA); rather	
it provides technical guidance to the pilot deployers in completing the tasks and deliverables described in the stateme			
of work.			
17. Key Words	-	B. Distribution Statement	
Connected vehicles, performance measured	ment, pilot sites,		

confounding factors			
19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified	20. Security Classif. (of this page) Unclassified	<b>21. No. of Pages</b> 19	22. Price
		maduration of communic	المصابيه والابنية متمعه المعاد

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized

## **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction	3
	1.1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT	3
	1.2 ORGANIZATION OF THE REPORT	3
2	Background	4
	2.1 Types of Performance Measures	
	2.1.1 Quantitative Performance Measures	4
	2.1.2 Qualitative Performance Measures	4
	2.2 Control Group	5
	2.3 TREATMENT GROUP	5
	2.4 COUNTERFACTUAL MODELING	5
	2.5 CONFOUNDING FACTORS	
	2.6 TIME SERIES ANALYSIS (BEFORE AND AFTER)	6
3	Deliverables	7
	3.1 TASK 2: PILOT DEPLOYMENT CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS (CONOPS)	7
	3.2 TASK 5: PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT AND EVALUATION SUPPORT PLAN	
	3.3 TASK 6: PILOT DEPLOYMENT SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS	
	3.4 TASK 9: PARTICIPANT TRAINING AND STAKEHOLDER EDUCATION PLAN	
	3.5 TASK 10: PARTNERSHIP COORDINATION AND FINALIZATION	
	3.6 TASK 11: DEPLOYMENT OUTREACH PLAN	
	3.7 TASK 12: COMPREHENSIVE PILOT DEPLOYMENT PLAN	
4	Key Challenges	
	4.1 ERRONEOUS DATA	
	4.2 DATA GAPS	
	4.3 MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY DUE TO EQUIPMENT	
_	4.4 CONFOUNDING FACTORS	-
5	Technical Support	
	erences	
Арр	endix: List of Acronyms	19

U.S. Department of Transportation Intelligent Transportatin System Joint Program Office

## **List of Tables**

Table A-1: List of Acronyms
-----------------------------

## **1** Introduction

### 1.1 Purpose of the Report

The purpose of the report is to assist Pilot Deployers in the timely and successful completion of the Connected Vehicle Pilot Concept Development Phase deliverables, specifically in developing the Performance Measurement and Evaluation Support Plan in Task 5, identifying performance measurement needs in the Concept of Operations (ConOps) in Task 2 and corresponding requirements in the System Requirements Specification (SyRS) document in Task 6, and other activities related to conducting performance measurement at Connected Vehicle (CV) Pilot Sites.

This document does not replace or alter the work statement defined in the Broad Agency Announcement (BAA, [1]); rather it provides technical guidance to the pilot deployers in completing the tasks and deliverables described in the statement of work.

### 1.2 Organization of the Report

This report contains four additional sections and a reference section. Section 2 provides definitions of key performance measurement concepts and terms used in the BAA. Section 3 covers relevant deliverables that will benefit from the performance measurement guidance in this report. Section 4 summarizes the key challenges that may affect performance measurement of the CV pilots, including methods that can be used to overcome them. Section 5 provides a summary of the technical support that is available to the Sites.

## 2 Background

Measuring the performance of a transportation system provides the means to quantify the progress made toward attaining established goals [2]. This information can be used to improve an agency's internal operations or communicated to decision-makers to provide accountability for public expenditure as well as to the travelling public [3, 4].

The CV Pilot Deployments will include site-tailored collections of applications that address specific local needs while laying a foundation for additional local/regional deployment. As a result, the sites are expected to demonstrate improved performance in one or more of the following areas: improved safety, mobility, or public agency efficiency; or reduced negative environmental impact [1]. It is the improved performance that would cause widespread adoption of CV applications by transportation agencies. Hence, the need to accurately measure performance of the CV Pilots cannot be overemphasized.

To effectively conduct performance measurement, some fundamental terms and concepts must be well understood. These terms and concepts, which were identified in the BAA, are briefly discussed below.

### 2.1 Types of Performance Measures

Performance measures can be categorized as either quantitative or qualitative depending on the nature of the performance variable been measured [5]. These are briefly described below.

### 2.1.1 Quantitative Performance Measures

Quantitative performance measures provide numerical estimates as an evidence of how a transportation system is performing [6]. These numerical estimates can then be compared with established performance targets to determine the amount of progress/regress made in achieving those targets. These numerical estimates are usually verifiable and yield similar results with repeated trials, when everything else is kept a constant. Quantitative performance measures can either be continuous (e.g., average travel times, average speeds, etc.) or discrete (e.g., average vehicle throughput, average person throughput, etc.). Please refer Guide to Effective Performance Measurement for additional examples [7].

### 2.1.2 Qualitative Performance Measures

Qualitative performance measures represent the subjective perceptions and satisfaction levels of users or customers [6]. They focus on people's own experiences and help transportation system managers understand how users/customers feel about the service. Although qualitative performance measures are subjective in nature, they provide valuable complementary information to quantitative performance measures to help transportation system managers improve service delivery. Examples of qualitative performance measures include public perception of agency operations, user satisfaction, driver frustration, etc. Please refer Guide to Effective Performance Measurement for additional examples [7].

Sites should identify key performance measures as part of Task 2. Additional quantitative and qualitative measures may be required to support an independent evaluation. The USDOT will provide evaluation-related needs as part of Task 2 (see guidance summary on Evaluation Support).

### 2.2 Control Group

A control group in an experiment is the group that does not receive any treatment [8]. This group serves as a comparison point to evaluate the magnitude and significance of each treatment [9]. The control group must resemble the treatment group as much as possible for the comparison to be valid.

### 2.3 Treatment Group

The treatment group is the group that receives the treatment or the intervention, i.e., this group is exposed to the application or strategy being tested [8].

### 2.4 Counterfactual Modeling

Counterfactual analysis describes the potential outcome in the absence of an intervention, such as the implementation of new operational strategies or adoption of new technologies (e.g., connected vehicle technology). It is essential to establish the counterfactual to measure the impact of these interventions. For example, when measuring the impact of deploying curve speed warning on a section of a freeway corridor with high truck traffic, it is essential to examine what would happen if the curve speed warning application had not been deployed. A commonly used approach is to compare the performance measures estimated before the deployment of the application with those estimated after the deployment. Such a comparison is not the same as establishing a counterfactual since in the beforeafter analysis, the differences in the performance measures estimated during the before and after periods cannot be attributed solely to the intervention (i.e., the application). There may be other causes for the observed differences (see 2.3).

There are range of options for estimating the counterfactual, including the "use of control groups, comparison groups and expert predictions" [10]. Counterfactuals can be estimated by using a control group where participants are randomly assigned to either the intervention (i.e., the treatment) group or the control group. A second option is "using a comparison group which has not been created by randomization" [10]. There are a number of quasi-experimental research designs that can be used to create comparison groups [10]. The third option, which is a non-experimental design, uses expert predictions of what would have happened in the absence of the intervention. Counterfactuals can also be established through the use of transportation modeling and simulation tools, wherein the "modeled" connected vehicle applications are disabled or deactivated and performance measures are estimated, keeping everything else (i.e., network demand, vehicle split, etc.) the same.

### 2.5 Confounding Factors

A confounding factor is a variable that completely or partially accounts for the apparent association between an outcome and a treatment. This is a variable other than the independent variable (that the evaluator might be interested in) that may affect the dependent variable [11]. This can lead to erroneous conclusions about the relationship between the independent and dependent variables [11].

Confounding factors are usually external to the experiment; hence, they are not monitored during the experimental period. In terms of transportation performance measurement, examples of confounding factors may include travel demand, weather, traffic incidents, construction, gas prices, loss or growth in jobs, etc. The effects of confounding factors can be subdued or eliminated completely by using an appropriate experimental design or statistical approach that accounts for these exogenous factors.

### 2.6 Time Series Analysis (Before and After)

Time series analysis can be employed to measure the impacts of interventions such as the implementation of new operational strategies or adoption of new technologies such as connected vehicle technology. Time series design involves the "repeated measurement of one or more indicators (e.g., average vehicle throughput) over time, encompassing periods both prior to and after implementation" of a treatment (i.e., CV pilot deployment) [12, 13]. The goal of such an analysis is to assess whether the treatment (or program) has "interrupted" or changed a pattern established prior to the program's implementation. The impact of the intervention is then assessed by examining any change in the post-intervention period given the trend in the pre-intervention period.

## **3 Deliverables**

As stated in the statement of work for the BAA (see Page 4 in [1]):

"The overall objective of concept development Phase 1 is to set the stage for a connected vehicle pilot deployment that has an observable measureable near-term impact, deployed ontime and within budget."

The BAA also states that (see Page 4 in [1]):

## *"Finally, the ability to capture and analyze observed data to monitor performance over time must be considered as a key requirement of the pilot deployment."*

To fulfill the above key requirement, each CV Pilot Site will need to:

- Identify needs to monitor and quantify a set of quantitative performance measures associated with the motivating needs underlying the Pilot Deployment (Task 2 ConOps)
- Specify requirements corresponding to needs related to performance monitoring and measurement related needs (Task 6 SyRS)
- Develop a plan to ensure quantitative performance measurement against identified targets is a core pilot deployment capability(Task 5 Performance Measurement and Evaluation Support plan)
- Ensure agreement on performance measures and targets among partners for chosen institutional and financial arrangement (Task 10 Partnership Coordination and Finalization)
- Develop a Comprehensive Pilot Deployment (CPD) Plan that describes the objectives, performance measures, applications, geographic scope, and general nature of the pilot deployment (Task 12 CPD Plan)

This section describes the deliverables for which the guidance is intended. The deliverables are identified by task as documented in the CV Pilots BAA [1].

# 3.1 Task 2: Pilot Deployment Concept of Operations (ConOps)

The BAA states that (see Page 7 in [1]):

"The purpose of this task is to refine and improve the proposed pilot deployment concept and document this in a complete Pilot Deployment Concept of Operations. Among other elements, the ConOps shall refine the set of proposed high-priority needs through structured stakeholder interaction, rigorously define a set of key performance measures and identify associated quantitative performance targets for each performance measure that are achievable within the time frame of the Pilot Deployment."

Moreover, according to the BAA, the Sites should (see Page 8 in [1]):

# "...focus on combinations of applications that result in improved and measureable system performance in one, or preferably more, of the following high level categorical areas: Safety, Mobility, Environment, Public Agency Efficiency."

Hence in this task, the Sites may wish to identify needs that correspond to monitoring and measuring performance measures that specifically capture improved system performance as a result of the deployed applications in one or more of the four areas (i.e., safety, mobility, environment, and public agency efficiency). For example, if the Eco-Approach and Departure application, which encourages "green" approach to intersections, is deployed the Site should identify a need that corresponds to monitoring and measuring fuel consumption and emissions.

The BAA also states that (see Page 14 in [1]):

## "The impact of the deployment on a set of key performance measures (identified in Task 2) will be monitored and reported on (at a minimum) a daily, weekly, and monthly basis."

Hence, when phrasing the need for monitoring and measuring performance measures, for completeness the Sites may wish to identify how frequently each performance measure will be monitored and reported.

Another key item to note is that for each performance measure quantitative targets needs to be identified that are achievable within the time frame of the Pilot Deployment. Hence, the Sites may wish to specify targets that are achievable for the deployed type, number, and location of connected vehicle technology and existing infrastructure, and for the institutional and financial arrangements that are in place for the pilot deployment.

These measures and targets should be vetted through stakeholder interaction. Additionally, the partners engaged in the CV Pilot should agree on these measures and targets since the BAA also states that (see Page 20 in [1]):

## "This includes an agreement on the main elements of the ConOps, performance measures and targets..."

Finally, the Sites may wish to format the needs so that these are in compliance with the IEEE Standard 1362-1998 since the BAA states that (see Page 9 in [1]):

"The Contractor shall follow the guidelines for format and content in IEEE Standard 1362-1998 to develop a ConOps that describes the proposed Pilot Deployment."

### 3.2 Task 5: Performance Measurement and Evaluation Support Plan

The BAA states that (see Page 14 in [1]):

#### "In Task 5, the Contractor shall develop a plan to ensure quantitative performance measurement against identified targets is embedded as a core pilot deployment capability."

The Sites may wish to include the following sections in their Performance Measurement Plan to address each of the areas mentioned in the BAA:

U.S. Department of Transportation Intelligent Transportatin System Joint Program Office

#### Performance Measurement Procedures: The BAA states that (see Page 15 in [1]):

# "Procedures built into the pilot deployment system shall generate a set of quantitative estimates associated with each critical performance measure and independent evaluation needs..."

The Sites may wish to include the procedures for generating quantitative measures (identified in Task 2) from the data collected, processed and presented by the proposed deployed system since the BAA states that (see Page 15 in [1]):

#### "The intended actions of the system managers and users in the deployment that ensures accurate performance measurement must be enabled by data collected, processed and presented by the proposed deployed system (SyRS)."

The section may require the consideration of the following for each measure:

- Data needed for estimating the performance measure. For example, time-stamped position data from connected vehicles might be sufficient to estimate trip times.
- Area (or location) where data should be collected for estimating the performance measure. For example, for a speed harmonization application deployed on a freeway corridor, data might need to be collected from <u>all lanes on that freeway corridor</u>.
- Temporal resolution of the data needed for estimating the performance measure. For example, time-stamped position data might be needed <u>every second</u> from all lanes to estimate lane-specific queue lengths.
- Approach to estimating the performance measure. This may be a high-level algorithmic approach or a pseudocode. In some instances, analytical tools may be used to estimate a measure. If that is the case, then this section should clearly identify the tool and how it will be used to estimate the measure. For example, EPA's MOVES may be used to estimate emissions from vehicle speeds collected from the field [14].

The procedures for generating these quantitative measures will be built into the pilot deployment system in the Design/Deploy/Test Phase, and hence the Sites may wish to include sufficient information so that performance measurement can be "*embedded as a core pilot deployment capability*" (see Page 14 in [1]).

Confounding Factors: The BAA states that (see Page 16 in [1]):

# "The Performance Measurement Plan shall identify expected confounding factors that might influence performance measurement. Potential mitigation approaches shall be identified for each confounding factor."

In this section the Sites may wish to identify confounding factors that can potentially influence the outcome. It is critical to identify confounding factors and isolate their impacts so that performance improvements are neither overstated nor understated. The Sites may wish to identify, for each confounding factor, potential mitigation approaches, such as use of rigorous experimental designs (e.g., selecting control and treatment groups so that they are comparable); counterfactual modeling and simulation; or statistical techniques. Note that there are other threats that affect the validity of performance measurement, including bias in selection of control and treatment groups, maturation of data (i.e., change in performance may be due to passage of time rather than due to the deployed

application/technology), etc. In addition to confounding factors, the Sites may wish to address other threats that impact the validity of their results, and therefore of performance measurement.

Field Performance Data Collection: The BAA states that (see Page 15 in [1]):

"The Performance Measurement Plan shall define how the proposed operational case ("with Pilot Deployment") and the current case ("no Pilot Deployment") for benchmarking system performance will be represented in the Pilot Deployment Operate and Maintain Phase (Phase 3)."

When developing this section, the Sites may wish to ensure that the selected timeframes for the operational and current cases are consistent with the discussion in the Confounding Factors section.

The BAA also states that (see Page 15 in [1]):

# "The Performance Measurement Plan shall identify, by data source, the data elements, frequency, precision, and nature of observed data to be collected, processed and utilized to measure pilot deployment impact against targets."

The Sites may wish to ensure that the information contained here is consistent with the data identified in the Performance Measurement Procedures section. The section may also require the consideration of identification of methods for processing the data, including cleaning, removing of Personally Identifiable Information (PII) (Please refer guidance on *Privacy Considerations* for more information.), and aggregating and or fusing with contemporaneous data from other sources. Note that raw data may need to be provided to support the evaluation effort. Please refer guidance on *Evaluation Support* for more information.

Participant Action Logs: The BAA states that (see Page 15 in [1]):

## "The Performance Measurement Plan shall contain a proposed protocol for recording actions taken by key deployment participants."

The Sites may wish to define a protocol that at a minimum includes information on what types of actions should be recorded, by whom, when, how frequently, and how or where (e.g., online log forms, offline digital forms, etc.). These protocols may need to be tested in the next phase.

Modeling and Simulation: The BAA states that (see Page 15 in [1]):

"The Performance Measurement Plan shall describe plans to incorporate modeling and simulation (in coordination with field data collection) to assist in key system performance measurement/estimation."

The BAA also states that (see Page 16 in [1]):

"The Performance Measurement Plan shall include a summary of the nature of proposed analytic software (i.e., tools) and software inputs (i.e., models)...Each item in the summary shall be described in terms of current maturity, proposed extension or integration, and the ability of a third-party evaluator to access and utilize developed tools, models, and/or analytic outputs." Modeling and simulation tools might be necessary to estimate measures that are difficult to observe directly. Modeling and simulation tools might also be used to control for confounding factors. Hence, the Sites may wish to identify when modeling and simulation tools will be used to estimate a measure or control for confounding factors and other threats that affect the validity of results. The section may require the consideration of the following:

- Purpose (e.g., estimate a key performance measure, control for confounding factor X)
- Analytic software (i.e., tool), including version that will be used
- Software inputs (i.e., models that represent a specific facility, corridor, or region, etc.)
- Current maturity of tool, including proposed extension or integration
- Ability of a third-party, including the independent evaluators to access and utilize the tools, models, and outputs

Use Cases/Scenarios: The BAA states that (see Page 16 in [1]):

# "The Performance Measurement Plan shall describe methods used to create, identify or otherwise generate the specific use cases where the Pilot Deployment is expected to have the most impact in achieving target performance goals."

The Sites may wish to identify the use cases that will be examined for estimating the performance measures, and provide information on how suitable participants will be identified, recruited, and compensated. The Sites may wish to ensure that the selection of the use cases and participants are consistent with the approaches discussed in the Confounding Factors section for mitigating impacts of confounding factors. The Sites may wish to take steps to ensure that there is no inherent bias in the participant selection process to ensure validity of the performance measurement results.

#### Support to Independent Evaluation Effort: The BAA states that (see Page 16 in [1]):

#### "The Performance Measurement Plan shall specifically identify data flows (including but not limited to field data, calculated performance measures, and action log entries) that will be provided to support the evaluation effort."

The data that are provided to support the evaluation effort may be raw, cleaned, aggregated, removed of PII or may include PII. Please refer specific guidance on *Evaluation Support* for information on how to structure this section.

Data Sharing Framework: The BAA states that (see Page 16 in [1]):

# "The Performance Measurement Plan shall include a Data Sharing Framework, a description of performance measurement data to be generated and transmitted to COR, including the frequency of these updates."

Data collected will need to be shared through the RDE and will be subject to the protection of intellectual property rights and personal privacy (see Page 67 in [1]). Please refer specific guidance on *Data Sharing Framework* for information on how data may be shared.

The Sites should, in addition to the development of the Performance Measurement and Evaluation Support Plan, conduct a webinar.

Performance Reporting: The BAA states that (see Page 15 in [1]):

"Further, performance against baseline measurements and targets are anticipated to be routinely and publically reported throughout Phase 3 daily (or more frequently). Some results related to prototype application performance are posted at www.its.dot.gov/pilots to assist the Contractors. Weekly and monthly summaries/dashboards of performance to date covering all key measures are anticipated to be required features in all Phase 3 deployment sites."

In this section, the Sites may wish to address the mechanisms for reporting performance of their system. The Sites may also wish to address the frequency of reporting. A range of mechanisms that are tailored to varied audience may be proposed. For example, weekly and monthly dashboards may be developed for the community, while detailed tables may be generated for consumption by the independent evaluators. Please refer FHWA Performance Reporting for keys to reaching an audience [15].

### 3.3 Task 6: Pilot Deployment System Requirements

The BAA states that (see Page 17 in [1]):

"The Contractor shall develop a System Requirements Specification (SyRS) Document based on the COR-approved ConOps, following the guidance in IEEE Standard 1233-1998."

The BAA also states that (see Page 17 in [1]):

"Procedures built into the pilot deployment system shall generate a set of quantitative estimates associated with each critical performance measure and independent evaluation needs (these requirements shall be described and referenced in the System Requirements Specification (SyRS) Document)."

The Sites may wish to develop requirements that correspond to the performance monitoring and measurement-related needs identified in the COR-approved ConOps.

The Sites may also wish to develop requirements that correspond to the procedures for estimating the measures (see Task 5). Procedures for generating the quantitative measures will be built into the pilot deployment system in the Design/Deploy/Test Phase.

The Sites may wish to formulate these requirements so that these comply with IEEE Standard 1233-1998.

### 3.4 Task 9: Participant Training and Stakeholder Education Plan

The BAA states that (see Page 19 in [1]).

"The Contractor shall prepare a high-level plan for the recruitment and training of all travelers, drivers, and other personnel participating in the Pilot Deployment."

With respect to performance measurement, the Sites may wish to include guidance or training on how to record Participant Action Logs (see Page 15 in [1]). The guidance will need to be consistent with the

protocols developed in Task 5 for the action logs. For example, training may need to be provided on the type and frequency of information that needs to be recorded, and the approach for recording.

### 3.5 Task 10: Partnership Coordination and Finalization

The BAA states that (see Page 20 in [1]):

"The Contractor shall document the status of developing and implementing agreements, contracts and subcontracts among partner organizations in a Partnership Status Summary. This includes an agreement on the main elements of the ConOps, performance measures and targets, operational changes associated with the Pilot Deployment, governance framework and processes, and financial agreements."

The Sites may wish to specifically document the status of partner consensus on measures and targets identified in Task 2 through stakeholder interaction.

### 3.6 Task 11: Deployment Outreach Plan

The BAA states that (see Page 21 in [1]):

"Anticipated levels of Outreach, at a minimum, are expected to include:

- ...
- Participation in two USDOT-organized webinars a year regarding pilot deployment progress/performance."

The Sites may wish to report the performance measures, monitored and measured according to the Performance Measurement and Evaluation Support Plan, in an easily-understandable and accessible format.

### 3.7 Task 12: Comprehensive Pilot Deployment Plan

The BAA states that (see Page 21 in [1]):

"The Contractor shall prepare a Comprehensive Pilot Deployment (CPD) Plan. Drawing on all materials prepared in Tasks 2-11, this plan shall summarize the overarching pilot deployment concept and expected outcomes."

The Sites may wish to specifically identify "*the key measures of performance and the methods of assessing these impacts on a continuous basis*" in the CPD Plan (see Page 21 in [1]).

## 4 Key Challenges

This section identifies the key challenges that may arise during the CV Pilots, and methods to overcome them to ensure effective and valid performance measurement.

### 4.1 Erroneous Data

Performance measurement based on erroneous data can be misleading as it will not accurately capture the impacts of the deployed applications/technology. The quality of data used in measuring performance is essential to the usefulness and credibility of estimated performance measures.

Erroneous data are data reported by detectors that are not physically feasible and are typically treated as a source of missing data [16]. Erroneous data may arise from equipment malfunctioning, software errors or communication errors. Hence, the first step in controlling for erroneous data is to calibrate the equipment to ensure consistent performance. Procedures should be developed for noting when an equipment goes down or the power fails, as these hardware failures may lead to erroneous or missing data.

Next, data quality standards should be established. The intended use of the data should dictate the quality standards a dataset is subjected to. For example, an intelligent signal optimization application may be tolerant to less than 10% error in vehicle speeds for estimating queue lengths; whereas a drayage optimization application may be tolerant to higher errors (e.g., up to 20%) in vehicle speeds for estimating trip times. Thus, before checking for erroneous data it is necessary to understand the intended purpose of the data and establish data quality standards.

Sites will benefit from developing and using a combination of automated and manual procedures to detect erroneous data. For example, the Texas Transportation Institute (TTI) applied 16 data validity checks to ensure that the quality of data that was used to monitor urban freeways was acceptable [17]. For example, if speed value for a timestamp is not zero when traffic volume is zero, then such data point might be inaccurate and should not be used for further analysis. Similar such automated routines should be designed to identify erroneous data. However, automated routines for identifying and eliminating errors should be used carefully in case meaningful outlier data are misidentified as errors. It is best to use automated routines for issue identification and supplement with manual verification for issue resolution.

### 4.2 Data Gaps

Data gaps or missing data is a common occurrence in any data collection process. As noted earlier, failure in hardware can result in missing data. Depending on the size of gaps, continuous performance monitoring can be interrupted significantly leading to a failure in the capture of inherent trends and patterns. Thus, completeness of data is essential for accurate performance measurement. There are several methods to addressing missing data that range from simple heuristics that make use of interpolation to complex statistical imputation techniques (e.g., maximum likelihood imputation, multiple imputation, etc.) [16, 18]. It should be noted that unconstrained imputation of missing data

points can lead to unrealistic straight-line patterns that can skew the results. The chosen imputation technique should depend on the size of the data gap relative to the total dataset, the underlying distribution of the missing data variable (i.e., if known), and availability of statistical packages.

### 4.3 Measurement Uncertainty Due to Equipment

Wear and tear and environmental conditions may impact the performance of data collection equipment during the pilot deployments. Periodic changes in the performance of an equipment may introduce errors of varying magnitude into the data gathered. A possible solution is to calibrate all data collection equipment regularly to ensure consistent performance. Calibration is the verification that a measuring device is within accuracy limits. Accuracy limits may be determined based on past history, manufacturer recommendations, national standards or customer requirements.

### 4.4 Confounding Factors

As mentioned in Section 2, confounding factors are external factors which can distort the validity of experimental findings if not controlled for. The effects of confounding factors can be minimized by using appropriate experimental designs or statistical techniques that account for these external factors [19]. For example, techniques such as counterfactual modeling, pairwise matching enabled by cluster analysis, or modeling and simulation may be used to control for confounding factors.

## **5 Technical Support**

A series of USDOT-sponsored webinars were developed to assist early deployers of connected vehicle technologies with Concept Development activities. The webinar described below provides support for the development of a Performance Measurement Plan.

#### 1. Preparing an Effective Performance Measurement Plan for Connected Vehicle Deployments

This webinar presents the USDOT perspective on the development of a Performance Measurement Plan, a key step in the concept development phase for deployment planning. Performance measurement is essential for improving an agency's internal operations as well as for providing accountability for public expenditure. Dr. John Halkias of Federal Highway Administration describes the concept and the requirements of an effective Performance Measurement Plan, including identifying confounding factors and methods to mitigate their impacts; crafting meaningful and feasible use cases/scenarios; and preventing issues that may arise if performance measurement is not carefully planned.

To access the presentation slides and audio recording for this webinar, please visit the technical assistance page of the CV Pilots website: <u>http://www.its.dot.gov/pilots/technical\_assistance\_events.htm</u>

## References

1. Connected Vehicle Pilot Deployments: Phase 1 Concept Development, Broad Agency Announcement No. DTFH6115R00003, Federal Highway Administration, January 2015.

https://www.fbo.gov/index?s=opportunity&mode=form&id=4bb6693ac3021c178595d83fab3b5d73&ta b=core&\_cview=1

- Operations Performance Measurement, <u>http://www.ops.fhwa.dot.gov/perf\_measurement/</u>, accessed on 23 June 2015.
- 3. Performance Measures to Improve Transportation Systems and Agency Operations, National Academy Press, Irvine, California, 2000.
- 4. Shaw, T. Performance Measures of Operational Effectiveness for Highway Segments and Systems: A Synthesis of Highway Practice, Transportation Research Board, Washington, D.C., 2003.
- Jin, M., Wang, H., & Walden, C. T. System Performance Measures for Intermodal Transportation with A Case Study and Industrial Application, National Center for Intermodal Transportation, 2004 (p. 6), <u>http://ncit.msstate.edu/PDF/FinalReportJin2.pdf</u>, accessed on 24 August 2015.
- Canadian Transportation Agency. Performance Measurement Framework for the Canadian Transportation Agency (p. 9), <u>https://www.otc-</u> <u>cta.gc.ca/sites/all/files/altformats/books/performance\_e.pdf</u>, accessed on 24 August 2015.
- Margiotta, R. A. Guide to Effective Freeway Performance Measurement, Transportation Research Board, 2007 (p. A1-A17), <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/nchrp/nchrp\_w97.pdf</u>, accessed on 18 August 2015.
- Trochim, William M. The Research Methods Knowledge Base, 2nd Edition, <u>http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/intsing.php</u>, (version current as of October 20, 2006), accessed on 18 August 2015.
- NIST/SEMATECH e-Handbook of Statistical Methods, <u>http://www.itl.nist.gov/div898/handbook/</u>, accessed on 26 August 2015
- Better Evaluation, Sharing Information to Improve Evaluation, <u>http://betterevaluation.org/plan/understandcauses/compare results to counterfactual</u>, accessed on 26 August 2015.
- 11. McDonald, J. H. Handbook of biological statistics, Vol. 2, pp. 173-181, Baltimore, MD, 2009, http://www.biostathandbook.com/confounding.html, accessed on 19 August 2015
- Bureau of Justice Assistance. Types of Research Designs, Center for Program Evaluation and Performance Measurement, <u>https://www.bja.gov/evaluation/types-research.htm</u>, accessed on 26 August 2015.
- 13. McDowall, D. Interrupted time series analysis (Vol. 21), Sage Publication, 1980.
- 14. Motor Vehicle Emission Simulator. EPA. <u>http://www.epa.gov/otaq/models/moves/index.htm</u>, accessed on 1 September 2015.

U.S. Department of Transportation Intelligent Transportation System Joint Program Office

- 15. Cambridge Systematics. FHWA Performance Reporting, Part 1 of 2, PUBLICATION NO. FHWA-HIF-13-043, Prepared for FHWA, March 2013.
- Smith, B., Scherer, W., and Conklin, J. Exploring imputation techniques for missing data in transportation management systems, Transportation Research Record, Vol. 1836, pp. 132-142, 2003.
- Turner, S., Margiotta, R., and Lomax, T. Monitoring Urban Freeways in 2003: Current Conditions and Trends from Archived Operations Data, 2003 (p. 23-26), <u>http://d2dtl5nnlpfr0r.cloudfront.net/tti.tamu.edu/documents/FHWA-HOP-05-018.pdf</u>, accessed on 1 September 2015.
- Washington, S., Leonard, J., Manning, D. G., Roberts, C., Williams, B., Bacchus, A. R., Devanhalli, A., Ogle, J., and Melcher, D. Scientific Approaches to Transportation Research: Volume 1 and 2, NCHRP Project 20-45, 2002 (see Volume 1, Chapter 4), <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/nchrp/cd-</u>22/start.htm, accessed on 1 September 2015.
- 19. Elvik, R. The importance of confounding in observational before-and-after studies of road safety measures, Accident Analysis & Prevention, 34(5), pp. 631-635, 2002.

## **Appendix: List of Acronyms**

#### Table A-1: List of Acronyms

Acronym	Meaning
BAA	Broad Agency Announcement
CPD	Comprehensive Pilot Deployment
CV	Connected Vehicles
DMA	Dynamic Mobility Applications
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FHWA	Federal Highway Administration
MED	Mobility, Environmental, and Public Agency Efficiency Evaluation Designer
MOVES	Motor Vehicle Emission Simulator
PII	Personally Identifiable Information
RDE	Research Data Exchange

U.S. Department of Transportation ITS Joint Program Office-HOIT 1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE Washington, DC 20590

Toll-Free "Help Line" 866-367-7487 www.its.dot.gov

FHWA-JPO-16-341

